I. INTRODUCTION

The Superior Court's subject matter jurisdiction under the Land Use Petition Act, Chapter 36.70C RCW, is strictly limited to reviewing a municipality's "land use decision". This term is unambiguously defined as a local government's "final determination" on an "application for a project permit or other governmental approval required by law before real property may be improved, developed, modified, sold, transferred or used". RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a) (emphasis added). Expressly excluded from LUPA jurisdiction are the legislative enactments of city and county councils, as well as any decisions that are appealable to the Growth Management Hearings Board.

The local enactment challenged in this proceeding, City of Puyallup Ordinance No. 3067, is not a "land use decision" under this well-established standard. The sole purpose of the ordinance was to adopt various amendments to the Puyallup Municipal Code regarding the text and applicability of the City's overlay zoning district regulations. These code amendments were self-initiated by the Puyallup City Council and thus do not—and could not—represent a "final determination" on any "application" for a project permit within the meaning of RCW

36.70C.020(2)(a). Indeed, it is undisputed that no such application exists anywhere in the record for this appeal.

The challenged amendments were also processed and adopted by the City *legislatively*, and by their plain terms are intended to uniformly govern development upon all present and future properties located within the designated overlay area. Ordinance No. 3067 does not change the underlying zoning classification of any parcel and is wholly unassociated with any particular development proposal. By its plain terms and effect, the ordinance contains local development regulations that fall within the exclusive review authority of the Growth Management Hearings Board. LUPA jurisdiction does not lie under these circumstances.

As a matter of law, this case should have been dismissed below on these jurisdictional grounds. In erroneously characterizing the Puyallup City Council's enactment of Ordinance No. 3067 as a "site-specific rezone" and a "land use decision", the Superior Court disregarded the unambiguous state law definitions of those terms and departed sharply from a lengthy body of judicial and Growth Board precedent. The Court of Appeals should correct this error, reverse the trial court's ruling, and dismiss Respondent Schnitzer West's LUPA appeal.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

2.1. Legislative History and Adoption of Ordinance No. 3067.

The Shaw/East Pioneer area of Puyallup is located in the City's northeast corner and is widely considered a symbolic "gateway" to the City. *CP 205, 211*. In 2009 the City adopted Chapter 20.46 of the Puyallup Municipal Code (PMC), which created a framework of alternate, use-specific "overlay" zones for the Shaw Road/East Pioneer area. *See* Chapter 20.46 PMC (*CP 268-71*). The purpose of the Shaw/East Pioneer (SPO) overlay zones is to "establish[] standards to supplement base zoning standards in this area, either on an area-wide basis or in conjunction with an underlying zone district." PMC 20.46.005 (*CP 268*). Chapter 20.46 PMC imposes various regulations that are intended to promote creative, flexible and quality development; to ensure safe and pedestrian-oriented streetscapes; and to encourage the use of low-impact development

Overlay zoning designations are a common means by which local jurisdictions may "augment their general zoning classifications with more detailed, property-specific" regulations. WASHINGTON REAL PROPERTY DESKBOOK SERIES: Vol. 5 Land Use Planning (Wash. St. Bar Assoc. 4th ed. 2012), §8.4(2). Overlay designations may "impose density or use limitations that are more or less restrictive than otherwise allowed within the applicable zone to account for unique infrastructure concerns or plan-related goals." *Id.* In addition to the SPO regulations codified at Chapter 20.46 PMC, Puyallup has adopted several other overlay designations that are specific to particular land use categories and/or areas of the City. These include overlays for parking (Chapter 20.47 PMC), floodplains (Chapter 20.49 PMC), agricultural uses (Chapter 20.50), and architecturally or historically significant buildings (Chapters 20.51 and 20.52 PMC).

methods within the SPO overlay. See PMC 20.46.005-.015 (CP 268-69). The underlying zoning classification of parcels located within the overlay is unchanged by Chapter 20.46 PMC.

Respondent Schnitzer West, LLC ("Schnitzer") is the contract purchaser of land located north of East Pioneer Avenue and commonly known as the Van Lierop property. *CP 3*. Although the Van Lierop property was situated outside the Puyallup City limits when the SPO overlay zones were first adopted in 2009, Chapter 20.46 PMC included an express statement of the City's intent to extend the SPO overlay zone to that area when it was ultimately annexed. *CP 207*. Annexation of the Van Lierop property occurred in 2012, *CP 117*, and the area was reclassified as "Limited Manufacturing" (ML) on the City's official zoning map the following year. *CP 317-21*.

Following a contentious policy debate regarding the appropriate development standards for the newly annexed property, in January 2014 the Puyallup City Council imposed a temporary moratorium on development approvals within the SPO area. *CP 106, CP 118, CP 323-27*. The same month, the City Council—on its own initiative—directed the City's Planning Commission and staff to analyze the potential expansion of the SPO overlay to the area north of East Pioneer Avenue. *CP 112-13*,

CP 205. Following the Planning Commission's review, the City Council ultimately proceeded with this expansion by adopting Ordinance No. 3067—the action challenged by Schnitzer in the instant appeal—on May 28, 2014. CP 205-11. At no time did Schnitzer (or any other private party or landowner) apply for or otherwise request this expansion of the SPO overlay; rather, it came about solely at the suggestion of the Puyallup City Council acting in its legislative (i.e., policy-making) capacity.

Ordinance No. 3067 added a new overlay zone for "limited manufacturing" (ML-SPO) uses to the SPO framework under Chapter 20.46 PMC. The scope of the SPO overlay under Puyallup's official zoning map was also expanded to encompass the portion of the recently annexed area located north of East Pioneer Avenue that was already zoned Limited Manufacturing, including the Van Lierop property. CP 205-11. The remainder, and majority, of Ordinance No. 3067 contained amendments to the text of Chapter 20.46 PMC establishing development regulations for the new ML-SPO overlay zone. *Id.* These included regulations pertaining to outdoor storage uses; standards governing the design, size, setback and orientation of buildings; landscaping, open space and pedestrian infrastructure requirements; signage provisions; and stormwater management regulations. CP 207-09. These regulatory standards apply generally to all property within the ML-SPO overlay zone. *Id.* Nothing in the ordinance refers to, or purports to render a determination on, any particular site-specific land use development application. *CP 205-11*. Indeed, no project-specific or site-specific land use development applications were pending for any of the properties within the ML-SPO overlay zone at the time the legislative proves for Ordinance No. 3067 was initiated.

The City's purpose for creating the ML-SPO overlay, together with the new development regulations for properties covered by this designation, was to ensure that future development within the symbolically and aesthetically significant Shaw-East Pioneer area would be consistent with Puyallup's community vision. As noted *supra*, the City had long anticipated expansion of the SPO overlay zone to encompass the Van Lierop property when the area was ultimately annexed. *CP* 207. However, in light of the recent redesignation of the Van Lierop property as ML, the City's planners disfavored simply applying the original SPO regulatory framework to this area. As City staff explained, this approach was undesirable from a community planning standpoint "given that the current SPO is orafted to address commercial projects which are generally different from the larger-scale industrial uses

and related site features typically accommodated in the ML zone." *CP* 126. As an alternative approach, City staff suggested that the SPO overlay could, as planned, be applied to the ML-zoned properties, but with use-specific revisions to the development standards codified within the overlay framework. *CP* 126. The latter option—i.e., extending the SPO overlay to the subject parcels, but with a new sub-designation (ML-SPO) and supplemental regulations appropriate for larger-scale industrial uses—was the policy approach ultimately selected by the Puyallup City Council. *CP* 205-11.

Because the proposed changes were legislatively initiated by the City of Puyallup itself, Puyallup did not utilize the City's procedural framework for project-specific land use development applications in processing and adopting Ordinance No. 3067. Instead, the City consistently followed its standard legislative procedures for amending the City's development regulations as prescribed by the Washington Growth Management Act (GMA). Pursuant to these requirements, the proposed amendments were vetted by the City's Planning Commission, subjected to a legislative public hearing, and were ultimately codified as part of the land use regulatory framework set forth in the Puyallup Municipal Code. *CP 115-211. See PMC 20.10.020*.

2.2. Development Application for Van Lierop Property.

Schnitzer filed a short plat application in February 2014, seeking to subdivide and develop the Van Lierop property. *CP 9*. Schnitzer's application was filed four months before the June 4, 2014 effective date of Ordinance No. 3067, and the ordinance does not reference this application in any manner. *CP 205-11*. The City has never expressed its intent to apply the regulations contained in Ordinance No. 3067 to Schnitzer's development of the Van Lierop property under the pending short plat application. To the contrary, because the application vested to the local regulatory framework in place at the time the application was submitted, *see* RCW 58.17.033, the City has publically disclaimed any intent to do so. *CP 284;RP (April 16, 2015) 8-9*.

2.3. Schnitzer's LUPA Appeal and Growth Management Hearings Board Petition.

Schnitzer initiated the above-captioned action by filing and serving its original Land Use Petition and Complaint on June 17, 2014, seeking a declaratory judgment invalidating Ordinance No. 3067 and asserting a monetary damages claim for tortuous interference. *CP 1-23*. Schnitzer subsequently filed an Amended Land Use Petition and Complaint on July 9, 2014, which removed the previous damage claim. *CP 24-44*. Shortly thereafter, Schnitzer also filed a Petition for Review with the Central

Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Board challenging the ordinance in that forum. See Schnitzer West v. City of Puyallup, CPGMHB Case No. 14-3-0008, Petition for Review.²

After denying the City's motion to dismiss the appeal on jurisdictional grounds, *CP 422-25*, the Honorable Elizabeth P. Martin of the Pierce County Superior Court held oral argument on the merits of Schnitzer's Land Use Petition on May 27, 2015. *CP 699*. Judge Martin subsequently issued a letter ruling on June 18, 2015 invalidating Ordinance No. 3067 on procedural and Appearance of Fairness grounds, as well determining that the enactment constituted, in her words, a "discriminatory spot zone". *CP 676-80*. The Superior Court entered a final order to this effect on August 7, 2015. *CP 699-04*. The City timely appealed to this Court by filing a Notice of Appeal on August 12, 2015. *CP 709-35*.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The City assigns error to the Superior Court's refusal to dismiss Schnitzer's Land Use Petition on jurisdictional grounds and the court's determination that LUPA jurisdiction applies to the Puyallup City

The GMHB appeal has been stayed by stipulation of the parties during the pendency of the above-captioned matter. See Schnitzer West v. City of Puyallup, CPSGMHB Case No. 14-3-008, Order Granting Fifth Settlement Extension and Amending Schedule (October 19, 2015).

Council's adoption of Ordinance No. 3067. Without limitation of the foregoing, the City specifically assigns error to these determinations of the Superior Court as set forth in the court's April 16, 2015 Order Denying the City's Motion to Dismiss, the court's June 18, 2015 letter ruling, and the court's August 7, 2015 LUPA Decision and Judgment. The City likewise assigns error to the Superior Court's determination that Ordinance No. 3067 was an unlawful spot-zone, and its conclusion that the City's enactment of that ordinance was subject to—and violated—the Appearance of Fairness doctrine.

With respect to the merits of Schnitzer's challenge to Ordinance No. 3067, the Court of Appeals confines its review to that enactment and does not consider the Superior Court's decision. *See, e.g., Rosema v. City of Seattle*, 166 Wn. App. 293, 297, 269 P.3d 393 (2012). The City does not assign error to the content of Ordinance No. 3067 or to the procedures by which the enactment was ultimately adopted.

IV. ARGUMENT AND LEGAL AUTHORITY

4.1. Summary of Argument.

Washington law establishes a clear divide regarding the appellate venue for challenging local land use and zoning actions. Where—and only where—a municipality has entered a final determination on a site-

specific development application filed by a project applicant, the appropriate review authority is the Superior Court under the Land Use Petition Act. By the plain language of Chapter 36.70C RCW, there can be no "land use decision"—and thus, no LUPA jurisdiction—without a specific project permit application of this type. Conversely, a municipality's amendment of its codified development regulations and other local legislative enactments are exclusively appealable to the Growth Management Hearings Board.

City of Puyallup Ordinance No. 3067 is comprised overwhelmingly of amendments to the text of the City's codified development regulations and was not adopted in response to any party's "application". Instead, the Puyallup City Council's enactment of this measure was self-initiated and followed the City's standard legislative process for amending its municipal code. By both the content and surrounding context of this enactment, Ordinance No. 3067 is not a "land use decision" subject to LUPA. The Court accordingly lacks jurisdiction over the ordinance, the proper appellate venue for which is the GMHB.

Schnitzer's contrary arguments are without merit. The company simply ignores LUPA's unambiguous "application" criterion, and it is unable to cite any reported Washington case law in which LUPA

jurisdiction has been applied to a local legislative enactment which, like Ordinance No. 3067, did not result from a specific party's request. No such authority exists. Contrary to Schnitzer's assertions, the City correctly processed Ordinance No. 3067 as a legislative code amendment, and the resulting regulations do not constitute "spot zoning" under relevant case law standards. The Court of Appeals should reject Schnitzer's arguments, reverse the trial court's erroneous rulings below, and dismiss Schnitzer's LUPA appeal.

4.2. Standard of Review and Burden of Proof.

4.2.1. Review of the Court's subject matter jurisdiction is *de novo*.

The dispositive issue in this appeal concerns the Court's subject matter jurisdiction under LUPA to review the City's adoption of Ordinance No. 3067. "Whether a court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law reviewed *de novo*." *Dougherty v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 150 Wn.2d 310, 314, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003).

4.2.2. Review under LUPA is deferential.

For the reasons set forth *infra*, the instant case does not involve a "land use decision" appealable under Chapter 36.70C RCW, and as such the LUPA standards of review are inapplicable here. Notwithstanding, judicial review in a LUPA appeal is confined to the record created during

the administrative proceedings below. RCW 36.70C.120(1); CROP v. Chelan County, 105 Wn. App. 753, 758, 21 P.3d 304 (2001). The Court of Appeals limits its review to the underlying local action without reference to the Superior Court's decision. Rosema, 166 Wn. App. at 297. Any findings or conclusions entered by the lower court are considered surplusage and are disregarded on appeal. See, e.g., Wellington River Hollow, LLC v. King County, 121 Wn. App. 224, 230 n.3, 54 P.3d 213 (2002); Grader v. City of Lynwood, 45 Wn. App. 876, 879, 728 P.2d 1057 (1986).

"Under LUPA, a court may grant relief from a local land use decision only if the party seeking relief has carried the burden of establishing that one of the six standards listed in RCW 36.70C.130(1) has been met." Wenatchee Sportsman Ass'n v. Chelan County, 141 Wn.2d 169, 175, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). The six LUPA standards are as follows:

- (a) The body or officer that made the land use decision engaged in unlawful procedure or failed to follow a prescribed process, unless the error was harmless;
- (b) The land use decision is an erroneous interpretation of the law, after allowing for such deference as is due the construction of a law by a local jurisdiction with expertise;
- (c) The land use decision is not supported by evidence that is substantial

when viewed in light of the whole record before the court;

- (d) The land use decision is a clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts;
- (e) The land use decision is outside the authority or jurisdiction of the body or officer making the decision; or
- (f) The land use decision violates the constitutional rights of the party seeking relief.

RCW 36.70C.130(1).

A court's review under LUPA is highly deferential to the local jurisdiction's decision. "RCW 36.70C.130(1) reflects a clear legislative intention that. . . court[s] give substantial deference to both legal and factual determinations of local jurisdictions with expertise in land use regulation." City of Medina v. T-Mobile USA, Inc., 123 Wn. App. 19, 24, 95 P.3d 377 (2004) (internal punctuation omitted).

4.2.3. Schnitzer bears the exclusive burden of persuasion on appeal.

"Once challenged, the party asserting subject matter jurisdiction bears the burden of proof on its existence." *Outsource Serv. Mgt., LLC v. Nooksack Bus. Corp.*, 172 Wn. App. 799, 807, 292 P.3d 147 (2013). Accordingly, it is incumbent upon Schnitzer to demonstrate that LUPA jurisdiction applies under the circumstances of this case.

Likewise, for purposes of LUPA review, Schnitzer bears the exclusive burden of proving that one or more of the standards for relief under that statute have been satisfied. RCW 36.70C.130(1). Schnitzer's burden in this regard is unaffected by the Superior Court's ruling below. Id.; Division II Court of Appeals General Order No. 2010-1, In Re. Modified Procedures For Appeals Under The Administrative Procedures Act, Chapter 34.05, and Appeals Under the Land Use Petition Act, Chapter 36.70C RCW.

4.3. The Court Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over Ordinance No. 3067.

By the plain terms of Chapter 36.70C RCW, the Court's jurisdiction under LUPA is strictly limited to reviewing a municipality's final determination on a project-specific development application. As a generally applicable, legislative amendment to the City of Puyallup's development regulations, Ordinance No. 3067 falls well beyond the Court's purview under Chapter 36.70C RCW and is instead subject to review by the GMHB. Schnitzer's Land Use Petition should accordingly be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

4.3.1 Ordinance No. 3067 is not a "land use decision" subject to review under LUPA.

The purpose of the Land Use Petition Act is to establish uniform, expedited appeal procedures and review criteria for judicial review of local land use decisions. See RCW 36.70C.010. To this end, Chapter 36.70C RCW is intended to serve as the "exclusive means of judicial review of land use decisions," subject to a few limited exceptions not relevant here. RCW 36.70C.030. Critical to LUPA's review framework is the Act's definition of "land use decision":

"Land use decision" means a *final* determination by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make the determination, including those with authority to hear appeals, on:

(a) An application for a project permit or other governmental approval required by law before real property may be improved, developed, modified, sold, transferred, or used, but excluding applications for permits or approvals to use, vacate, or transfer streets, parks, and similar types of public property; excluding applications for legislative approvals such as area-wide rezones and annexations; and excluding applications for business licenses;

- 16 -

RCW 36.70C.020(2) (emphasis added).³ For several reasons, Ordinance No. 3067 falls beyond the scope of this definition and is not a "land use decision" subject to LUPA jurisdiction.

4.3.1.1 Ordinance No. 3067 is not a final determination regarding a project-specific land use development application.

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