940053

REVERSE BRIEFING
SEE 9/8/15 PERFECTION LETTER
IN COA FILE

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 DEC -7 PM 7:27

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY _____
DEPUTY

No. 47900-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

SCHNITZER WEST, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

CITY OF PUYALLUP, a Washington municipal corporation,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

G. Richard Hill, WSBA #8806
Courtney E. Flora, WSBA #29847
McCullough Hill Leary, P.S.
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 6600
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 812-3388
Email: rich@mhseattle.com
Email: cflora@mhseattle.com

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. **The Ordinance is a “land use decision” subject to exclusive review under LUPA.**

LUPA grants the superior court exclusive jurisdiction to review local land use decisions, with certain limited exceptions. RCW 36.70C.030(1)(a)(ii). The legislature's purpose in enacting LUPA was to “establish uniform, expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing [land use] decisions [by local jurisdictions] in order to provide consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review.” RCW 36.70C.010.

A “land use decision” is “a final determination by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make the determination, including those with authority to hear appeals.” RCW 36.70C.020(2). The LUPA statute identifies three types of land use decisions:

- (a) An application for a project permit or other governmental approval required by law before real property may be improved, developed, modified, sold, transferred, or used, but excluding applications for permits or approvals to use, vacate, or transfer streets, parks, and similar types of public property; excluding applications for legislative approvals such as area-wide rezones and annexations; and excluding applications for business licenses;

(b) An interpretative or declaratory decision regarding the application to a specific property of zoning or other ordinances or rules regulating the improvement, development, modification, maintenance, or use of real property; and

(c) The enforcement by a local jurisdiction of ordinances regulating the improvement, development, modification, maintenance, or use of real property. . .

RCW 36.70C.020(2).

The Ordinance is a final land use decision as defined in RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a). The decision was made by the City Council, the body with the highest level of decision-making authority in the City. Puyallup Municipal Code (“PMC”) 1.10.010. In addition, it was a “final” determination because there is no administrative appeal right to a City Council decision. PMC 20.10.035; RCW 36.70C.020. Finally, because the Ordinance effectuated a site-specific rezone authorized by the City’s comprehensive plan, it is by definition a “land use decision” under RCW 36.70C.020(a) that is subject to review under LUPA.

1. The Ordinance is a site-specific rezone

The initial issue is whether Ordinance No. 3067 is a site-specific rezone. A site-specific rezone occurs when there are specific parties requesting a classification change for a specific tract of property. *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007). The City argued below that the Ordinance is not site-specific because (1) it does not alter the underlying zone designation of the Property, (2) it applies to a 20+

acre property; and (3) it was initiated by the City Council instead of a private property owner. None of these arguments is supported by legal authority, and all of them are refuted by the facts of this case.

First, the Ordinance alters the underlying zone designation of the Property. Before the Ordinance was adopted, the Property was zoned ML, which would have permitted development of a 470,000 sq. ft. warehouse facility. The Ordinance adopts a new “overlay” which imposes a 125,000 sq. ft. building limitation, dramatically altering the underlying ML zone designation. CP 203. The superior court in its letter Ruling recognized this fact, concluding that “the fact that the zoning classification itself, ML, did not change as a result of the Ordinance does not change the analysis, as the Ordinance creates an overlay which significantly reduces the type of development that can take place on that particular ML-zoned property and that reduction does not apply to any other similarly ML-zoned property within the City . . .” CP 679. Accordingly, the fact that the City chose to retain the ML zoning label does not mean the Ordinance did not alter the underlying zoning standards.

Second, the Ordinance is site-specific. Although the Property is approximately 20 acres and contains three separate parcels, the Property is held under common ownership and proposed for one coordinated development. Again, the superior court considered this issue and concluded that the Ordinance “was clearly directed at a specific site.” CP

677.

Third, the fact that the rezone was initiated by the City has no bearing on whether it is a site-specific rezone. PMC 20.11.005 provides that the following entities can initiate site-specific rezones: “persons or agencies, including owners, bona fide agents, the commission and the council.” This section makes clear that the Council, like private property owners, can initiate site-specific rezones.

Several courts have addressed the distinction between site-specific rezones and text amendments that modify a zoning ordinance, holding that site-specific rezones occur when there are “specific parties requesting a classification change for a specific tract.” *Raynes v. City of Leavenworth*, 118 Wn.2d 237, 248, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992), *citing* R. Settle, *Washington Land Use and Environmental Law and Practice* § 2.11 (1983). In contrast, when a city council amends the text of the City’s zoning code in a way that affects all the property classified in that zone, this is a text amendment subject to GMHB review.

In *Raynes*, the City of Leavenworth adopted a new zoning ordinance that would permit RV parks in the City’s “Tourist Commercial” district as a conditional use. The Council adopted this ordinance to address a pressing policy concern facing the entire City—how to deal with the influx of tourists in recreational vehicles. However, although 21 acres of Tourist Commercial-zoned land were eligible for development as an

RV park, only two parcels were considered by the City to be appropriate sites for RV park development. The Raynes, whose property adjoined one of sites deemed appropriate for RV development, appealed the ordinance under LUPA, arguing that it was a site-specific rezone as opposed to a legislative text amendment. The Court disagreed, reasoning that the text amendment was of area-wide significance because it applied to the entire TC district, not just a specific tract, and because it was enacted to benefit the entire City, not just specific property owners.

The facts here are patently distinguishable. The Ordinance in this case was not adopted to address a policy issue facing the City, and it was not designed to be broadly applicable. Rather, under the guise of extending the existing SPO Zone, the City adopted specific new regulations designed to thwart a specific development proposal on a specific tract of property. The Council attempted to disguise its site-specific decision as legislative, but the facts demonstrate otherwise.

2. The Ordinance is a site-specific rezone authorized by the City's Comprehensive Plan, so it is a "project permit application" subject to review under LUPA

The fact that the Ordinance meets the definition of a site-specific rezone does not mean it is automatically subject to LUPA jurisdiction. There is one remaining test, articulated in several recent cases: if a site-specific rezone is authorized by a comprehensive plan, it is a project

permit application reviewable under LUPA. But if a site-specific rezone is adopted concurrently with a comprehensive plan amendment, it is a legislative action subject to review by the Growth Boards. See *Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board*, 176 Wn. App. 555, 309 P.3d 673 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn. 2d 1015 (2014) (*Spokane County II*); *Kittitas County v. Kittitas County Conservation Coalition*, 176 Wn. App. 38, 50, 308 P.3d 745 (2013); *Feil v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board*, 172 Wn.2d 367, 259 P.3d 227 (2011); *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 130 Wn. App. 573, 123 P.3d 883 (2005), affirmed by, *Woods, supra*, 162 Wn.2d 597.

In *Woods*, the earliest of the cases cited above, three landowner-companies applied for a rezone of approximately 252 acres from forest and range (allowing one dwelling per 20 acres) to rural-3 (allowing one dwelling per 3 acres). The county's board of commissioners reviewed the request and adopted an ordinance approving the rezone. On appeal, the Court analyzed whether jurisdiction was appropriate under LUPA or the GMA, holding that:

A site-specific rezone authorized by a comprehensive plan is a project permit application. RCW 36.70B.020(4). Consequently, the GMHB does not have jurisdiction to hear a challenge to a site-specific rezone, even if the rezone is adopted as a county ordinance. *Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn. 169, 179, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). *Citizens for Mount Vernon v. City of Mount Vernon*, 133 Wn.2d 861, 868, 947 P.2d 1208 (1997).

LUPA is the exclusive means for judicial review of land use decisions that are not subject to review by quasi-judicial bodies such as the GMHB. RCW 36.70C.030; *Somers, 105 Wn. App. At 941-42*. Accordingly, if Ms. Woods' challenge is limited to the validity of the site-specific rezone adopted in Ordinance 2005-15, she properly filed a LUPA petition in superior court.

Woods at 580-81. This holding establishes a clear rule that can be applied in cases where jurisdiction may be unclear: a site-specific rezone adopted alone is subject to LUPA; a site-specific rezone adopted in conjunction with a comprehensive plan amendment is subject to the GMA. The Supreme Court upheld this reasoning on appeal. *See Woods, supra*, 162 Wn.2d at 612 (“a site-specific rezone authorized by a comprehensive plan is treated as a project permit subject to the provisions of chapter 36.70B RCW”).

More recently, in *Kittitas County*, the court considered several actions taken by the Board of County Commissioners to facilitate a truck stop development. These actions included a combination of comprehensive plan amendments and rezone actions. Again, the Court held that the question whether the rezone was “authorized by the comprehensive plan” is the dispositive factor in determining whether the rezone was subject to appeal under LUPA or the GMA:

Considering all, we hold a site-specific rezone is a project permit approval under LUPA if it is authorized by a then-existing comprehensive plan and, by contrast, is an amendment to a development regulation under the GMA if it implements a comprehensive plan amendment. In sum, the superior court erred because the hearings board had subject matter jurisdiction

to review [the] rezone for compliance with both the GMA and SEPA. See RCW 36.70A.280(1)(a); former RCW 36.70A.290(2).

Id. at 52, citing RCW 36.70B.020(4). This holding affirms the key test: if a site-specific rezone is adopted in conjunction with a comprehensive plan amendment, it is subject to review by the Growth Boards. If, as here, a site-specific rezone is authorized by the existing comprehensive plan, it is a project permit application subject to review under LUPA. See also *Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board*, 176 Wn. App. at 555 (if a rezone is adopted concurrently with a comprehensive plan amendment, it is a legislative action subject to review by the GMHB); see also *Feil*, 152 Wn. App. at 408 (“a site-specific rezone is a project permit under RCW 36.70B.020(4) if it is authorized by a comprehensive plan or development regulations”).

The Growth Boards have reached the same conclusion as the Courts, repeatedly holding that a rezone is subject to its exclusive jurisdiction when the rezone is part of a “package” with a comprehensive plan amendment. *North Everett Neighbor Alliance v. City of Everett*, CPSGMHB No. 08-3-0005, Order on Motions (January 26, 2009).⁷ The determination of the GMHB is entitled to deference. *Lewis County v.*

⁷ See also *The McNaughten Group v. Snohomish County*, CPSGMHB No. 06-3-0027, Order on Motions (October 30, 2006); *Bridgeport Way Community Association v. Lakewood*, CPSGMHB No. 04-3-0003, Final Decision and Order (July 14, 2004).

Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, 157 Wn.2d 488, 498, 139 P.3d 1096 (2006).

It is undisputed that the City did not amend its Comprehensive Plan when it adopted the Ordinance. In fact, the recitals adopted with Ordinance No. 3067 specifically state that the Ordinance is consistent with and “supported by policies within the Comprehensive Plan Community Character Element . . .” The fact that the City took this action under the guise of legislative action is not determinative. Courts have held that “employing a quasi-judicial process, rather than a legislative one, is not determinative of whether the action is properly a policy or regulation subject to GMA.” *NENA, supra*, at 23. The reverse also holds true.

In sum, the Ordinance, a site-specific rezone authorized by the City’s comprehensive plan, must be reviewed under LUPA. As a practical matter, this conclusion makes sense. Schnitzer is not alleging noncompliance with the City’s comprehensive plan or GMA provisions or asserting any other claim the Growth Board is equipped to consider. Rather, Schnitzer is alleging that the Council adoption of the Ordinance violated LUPA’s standards of review; only the superior court is authorized to grant the relief sought in the Petition. RCW 36.70C.130.

B. LUPA sets forth the applicable standard of review

The LUPA statute sets forth clear standards of review to guide superior court and appellate courts in their review of local land use

decisions. As noted previously, “on review of a superior court’s decision on a land use petition, [the Court of Appeals stands] in the same position as the superior court and [applies] the... standards [set forth in LUPA] to the record created before the board.” *Henderson v. Kittitas County*, 124 Wn. App. 752, 100 P.3d 842 (2004). Accordingly, consistent with General Order 2010-1 of this Court, Schnitzer bears the burden of proof under those LUPA standards and is required to file the opening brief setting forth the bases for its challenge to Ordinance No. 3067.

Under LUPA, this Court may grant relief when the petitioner has carried the burden of establishing that:

(a) The body or officer that made the land use decision engaged in unlawful procedure or failed to follow a prescribed process, unless the error was harmless;

(b) The land use decision is an erroneous interpretation of the law, after allowing for such deference as is due the construction of a law by a local jurisdiction with expertise;

(c) The land use decision is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court;

(d) The land use decision is a clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts;

(e) The land use decision is outside the authority or jurisdiction of the body or officer making the decision; or

(f) The land use decision violates the constitutional rights of the party seeking relief.

RCW 36.70C.130(1).

The Court of Appeals has stated:

Standards (a), (b), (e), and (f) present questions of law that this court reviews de novo. Standard (c) concerns a factual determination that this court review for substantial evidence. We grant some deference to the party who prevailed in the highest forum that exercised fact-finding authority.

J.L. Stordahl & Sons, Inc. v. Clark County, 143 Wn. App. 920, 928, 180 P.3d 848 (2008). Substantial evidence is “evidence which ‘would convince an unprejudiced thinking mind of the truth of the declared premise.’” *Bjarnson v. Kitsap County*, 78 Wn. App. 840, 844-845, 899 P.2d 1290, 1292 (1995). A decision is clearly erroneous when a reviewing court is “left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed.” *Schofield v. Spokane County*, 96 Wn. App. 581, 586, 980 P.2d, 277, 280 (1999).

In this case, the City Council’s action violated each of the LUPA standards of review, but primarily RCW 36.70C.130(1)(a) and (b). In adopting Ordinance No. 3067, the Council engaged in unlawful procedure and failed to follow its own rezone procedures set forth in City Code and the state Planning Enabling Act, Chapter 36.70. The error was not harmless. In addition to failing to follow required procedures, the Council’s action constituted an illegal, discriminatory spot-zone contrary to law, and it did not comply with the state Appearance of Fairness doctrine. For these reasons, the Ordinance must be invalidated.

C. In adopting the Ordinance, the City Council failed to follow specific City Code and state law requirements for adopting site-specific rezones in violation of RCW 36.70C.130(1)(a)

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